IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-CA-00341

PEAVEY ELECTRONICS CORPORATION

APPELLANT

V.

BAAN U.S.A., INC.

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT PEAVEY ELECTRONICS CORPORATION

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Vincent J. Hess
Texas State Bar No.
LOCKE LORD BISSELL & LIDDELL LLP
2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 2200
Dallas, Texas 75201-6776
(214) 740-8000 (Telephone)
(214) 740-8800 (Facsimile)

Jerry K. Clements
Texas State Bar No.
Barbara Ellis
Texas State Bar No.
Susan A. Kidwell
Texas State Bar No.
LOCKE LORD BISSELL & LIDDELL LLP
100 Congress Avenue, Suite 300
Austin, Texas 78701
(512) 305-4700 (Telephone)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court err in granting partial summary judgment on Peavey's tort claims?
- 2. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment on Peavey's contract and warranty claims?
- 3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Peavey's motions to compel discovery?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This case arose after Defendant/Appellee Baan U.S.A. Inc. ("Baan") sold Plaintiff/Appellant Peavey Electronics Corp. ("Peavey") a multi-million dollar bundle of computer software and related services. The software was to be installed in phases to minimize the risks associated with such a large project. However, significant problems with the initial phase led to extended delays in installing the full package. Baan attempted to remedy the problems until 2003. By that time, it had became apparent that critical components of the software package were either incompatible or did not exist and, therefore, Baan could not install the full software package to perform as promised. Peavey spent many millions of dollars on the Baan project, but instead of realizing significant cost savings due to increased efficiency, Peavey actually lost sales and incurred additional expenses to maintain and support old computer systems that Baan was supposed to replace.

B. Course of Proceedings

Peavey filed its Original Complaint on February 27, 2004, alleging claims for breach of contract, breach of express and implied warranties, fraud and fraudulent

misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, and breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing. (1 CR 2.1) In April 2004, Baan moved to dismiss the Complaint based on the statute of limitations. (1 CR 82.) The Honorable Larry E. Roberts heard arguments in October 2004 and declined to dismiss any of Peavey's claims. (1 RR 51.) However, he ordered Peavey to replead its fraud and fraudulent misrepresentation claim with more particularity. (1 RR 54.) Peavey filed its First Amended Complaint in December 2004 (2 CR 169) and a Second Amended Complaint in April 2005 (18 CR 2614). The amended pleadings have more expansive and detailed factual allegations relating to the fraud and fraudulent misrepresentation claim and added a new cause of action for money had and received. (*See* 18 CR 2623-35.)

In support of its claims, Peavey sought to discover Baan's research and development records and documents showing other customer complaints about the software at issue. (See 3 CR 335; 5 CR 670.) Instead of producing the requested information, Baan filed a motion for partial summary judgment on all of Peavey's tort claims in March 2005. (See 7 CR 961.) Judge Roberts denied Peavey's motion to compel the needed discovery, concluding that the information sought was not relevant to Peavey's claims. (See App. F.) After refusing to reconsider the ruling (see App. G), Judge Roberts entered an order granting Baan's motion for partial summary judgment and dismissing all of Peavey's tort claims as barred by the three-year statute of limitations. (App. B.) The order granting partial summary judgment was premised on erroneous conclusions that: (i) Peavey's claims accrued as soon as Peavey experienced

¹ The Clerk's Record is cited as "[vol.] CR [page]," the Reporter's Record is cited as "[vol.] RR [page]," and the Appendix of Record Excerpts filed concurrently with this Brief is cited as "App. [tab] at [page]."

the initial problems with Phase I implementation; (ii) the discovery rule did not apply because Peavey knew about its injury when it experienced the initial problems in July 1999; and (iii) Peavey failed to present any evidence raising genuine fact issues about whether the statute of limitations was tolled based on equitable estoppel, the continuing tort doctrine, or fraudulent concealment. (See Apps. B & C.)

Shortly thereafter, Baan filed a second summary judgment motion on Peavey's contract and warranty claims. (32 CR 4820.) Peavey attempted to discover documents relating to the SCS software that it purchased but could not install because SCS was incompatible with other programs in Peavey's bundle. (*See* 36 CR 5352; 50 CR 7514.) However, noting that Peavey had never installed SCS, the Honorable Lester Williamson, Jr.² concluded that documents about whether SCS was compatible with the rest of Peavey's software package were "not relevant" to the remaining issues in the case. (App. H at 8545.) Accordingly, he denied Peavey's request for discovery pertaining to the SCS software applications. (*Id.* at 8546.)

In January 2007, Judge Williamson granted Baan's second summary judgment motion based, in part, on a "waiver" ground that was neither presented by Baan in its motion nor raised at the December 2006 hearing.³ (*See App. E*; 2 RR 295.) The final judgment incorporates both summary judgment rulings and dismisses all of Peavey's claims with prejudice. (App. D.)

Peavey timely filed this appeal on February 28, 2007. (96 CR 14474.)

² Judge Williamson began presiding over the case when Judge Roberts was appointed to the Mississippi Court of Appeals in January 2006.

³ The court concluded that Peavey waived its contract and warranty claims by entering into a 2001 addendum to one of the contracts at issue. (App. E at 14471.)

C. Statement of Facts

This case arose after Baan sold Peavey a multi-million dollar bundle of software products and related maintenance and consulting services. Critical components in the software package either did not exist or were incompatible with other components in the package, so Peavey's bundle of software could not be fully implemented to perform as promised. The trial court's judgment dismissing all of Peavey's claims is premised on a fundamental misunderstanding about the nature of Peavey's claims and on "facts" improperly determined by construing the evidence in a light most favorable to Baan. As Appellee's brief will undoubtedly confirm, many of the underlying facts relating to the merits of Peavey's claims are hotly disputed. However, that only demonstrates the need for a trial on the merits. The following statement of facts explains the context in which Peavey's claims arose based on the evidence favorable to Peavey:

1. Peavey's decision to purchase a bundle of Baan software

Peavey is one of the world's leading designers and manufacturers of musical and audio equipment, including guitars, amplifiers, and speakers. (App. X at 8853.) In the mid to late 1990s, Peavey determined that it needed a more modern computer system that would be "Y2K compliant." (*Id.*) It began investigating major suppliers of Enterprise Resource Planning ("ERP") software, which is computer software designed to automate all aspects of a company's business. (*Id.*)

Baan is a leading manufacturer of ERP software. (*Id.*) It develops, distributes, supports, and licenses computer software to businesses and also provides consulting and implementation services to the businesses that license its software. (*Id.*) Baan describes

its consultants as "certified experts" with extensive experience implementing software systems and the most thorough functional and technical knowledge of Baan ERP software. (See 99 CR 14942.) Consequently, Baan consultants hold themselves out to be particularly well suited to assist with complex implementations of Baan software and resolve any problems that might arise during the process. (Id.; see also App. X at 8871.)

Peavey began discussions and negotiations with Baan about purchasing Baan ERP software in 1997. (See App. M.) Peavey ultimately chose Baan over other vendors based on the purported strength of Baan's SCS product, which was supposed to make Peavey's manufacturing system much more efficient. (See App. W at 9119 ¶ 12.) Based on Baan's initial sales representations, Peavey reasonably expected that it could achieve substantial cost savings through improved efficiency, recover the total project costs of more than \$19 million in three and one half years, and enjoy a total net gain of almost \$13.5 million in cash flow over five years. (See App. M at 15051.)

a. The Software Agreement

Peavey and Baan executed a "Software License and Support Agreement" ("Software Agreement") on October 31, 1997, by which Peavey agreed to pay Baan over \$3.6 million in license and maintenance fees for an extensive package of Baan software. (App. I.) The software licensed to Peavey included Baan IV.0b Orgware (ERP software), Supply Chain (SCS) applications, Baan Source Code, and numerous other products described in Schedule A of the Software Agreement. (*See id.* at 8952-53.) Peavey had no reason to believe that the SCS module was "not an integral part" of the software package it purchased. (App. X at 8883.)

b. The Services Agreement

Concurrently with the Software Agreement, Peavey and Baan entered into a "Professional Services Agreement" ("Services Agreement") relating to the Software Baan licensed to Peavey in the Software Agreement. (App. K at 8960.) Peavey agreed to pay Baan hourly consulting fees in exchange for Baan's assistance in implementing the Baan Software being licensed to Peavey. (*Id.* § 4.1.) Baan was responsible for controlling, directing, and assisting Peavey with the Baan software implementation. (*Id.* § 1.) Baan's consultants were expected to provide "expert guidance" in implementing the Baan Software package and resolving any problems that might arise during the process. (*See* App. X at 8871-72.)

c. The Source Code Agreement

ERP software packages are typically customized to fit a company's business needs. (See 101 CR 15394-96.) That is because "there will always be gaps between the business processes represented in an ERP system and the ones a company uses," and "[n]o company should change the business processes that give it competitive advantage in expectation of improved workflow from an ERP [system]." (101 CR 15395.) Accordingly, Peavey and Baan also entered into a Source Code Agreement, by which Baan gave Peavey the source code to the Baan ERP software so that Peavey could customize the software. (See App. L §§ 1.2, 1.4, 1.7, 2.1, & Recitals.) "[S]ource code is only provided to a client if they intend to undertake customization." (App. X at 8897.)

⁴ "Source code" is the underlying computer language by which software applications operate.

2. Baan's Blueprint for phased implementation

Peavey decided to implement the Baan software in several phases "in order to minimize the risks associated with such a complex undertaking." (App. X at 8854.) In consultation with Peavey, Baan developed a lengthy "Blueprint" for implementation. (See 60 CR 9008.) The Blueprint explains how various components of the Baan software package were supposed to relate to different business functions at Peavey. (60 CR 9015.) The Blueprint also identifies and prioritizes numerous system customizations "as required for the successful implementation of the Enterprise Systems Project." (60 CR 9094-98.) Baan did not warn Peavey that customizing the software might prevent Peavey from implementing the entire package of software it purchased. (See 61 CR 9231 ¶ 8; 62 CR 9280 ¶ 6; 62 CR 9311 ¶ 8.) To the contrary, Baan portrayed customization "as a bridge from what the Baan products could do and what Peavey required from business systems supporting their operations." (App. X at 8879.)

3. Baan's inability to implement the full system Peavey purchased

Peavey understood that SCS "Planner, Scheduler and Execution modules would integrate and operate successfully with the Baan IVb version of the software" it licensed. (App. X at 8904.) However, by January 1998, Baan notified Peavey that SCS was not compatible with version IVb. (*Id.* at 8885.) Baan said it would notify Peavey when version IVc2 – "with which SCS would be compatible" – would be available. (*Id.*)

In August 1998, Baan acknowledged that SCS Scheduler would work with Baan IVc2, but that SCS Execution and Planner required version IVc3 or higher. (64 CR 9699.) Internal communications from December 1998 confirm that Baan knew Peavey

needed at least version IVc3 to run SCS. (64 CR 9701.) Despite this knowledge, Baan installed version IVc2, advised Peavey that full SCS functionality would become available on version IVc2, and continued trying to implement Peavey's software package using version IVc2. (See App. V at 9111 ¶ 10; App. W at 9123 ¶ 28; App. X at 8905.)

By February 1999, Baan knew that it was on "VERY thin ice" with Peavey because it had a "billing SCS consultant on-site helping to build a model for software that may not exist." (App. O (emphasis added).) Baan knew that Peavey might have to upgrade to version IVc3 but that other Baan customers had experienced problems when they did so. (Id.) Baan also knew that Peavey would be "EXTREMELY upset" if it upgraded its software and experienced problems. (Id.) Even though no one at Baan knew whether the software model it was building for Peavey would work, Baan proceeded with "time wasting wild goose chases" while trying to figure out how to implement and customize the software package it sold Peavey using version IVc2. (Id.)

Peavey's "go live" on the Sales and Distribution Module in Phase I of the project occurred in July 1999. (98 CR 14783.) Because the Sales and Distribution module was designed to automate Peavey's customer invoicing and shipping processes, it was critical to Peavey's ability to ship products and invoice its customers. (See App. P.) Serious problems arose during the "go live" on Sales and Distribution. (See App. Q at 14934; App. V at 9112 ¶ 12; 68 CR 10286.) Most notably, a defective component of the Sales and Distribution module caused Peavey to lose its automated shipping functions. (See 61 CR 9234 ¶ 13.) As a result, Peavey lost its ability to ship and bill orders to customers. (App. X at 8881.) The damage to Peavey's market share and customer perceptions was

significant. (See, e.g., 68 CR 10286.) Three months after the failed "go live," the Phase I software had "still not achieved a stable and workable status." (App. Q at 14934.)

In Phase II, Peavey intended to implement and "go live" on the manufacturing and SCS modules. (See App. V at 9111 ¶ 8.) Because Peavey's original cost justification for purchasing the software package was based on Baan's promised integration of the sales and distribution modules (Phase I) with the manufacturing and SCS modules (Phase II), Baan knew that full implementation of Phase II was crucial for Peavey to obtain the benefit of its bargain with Baan. (See App. M at 15051; App. T at 14792; App. W at 9119 ¶ 12.)

Peavey began work on the Phase II implementation even before the July 1999 "go live" on Phase I, and Phase II work continued while the parties tried to resolve the problems that arose after the July 1999 "go live." (See 62 CR 9312 ¶ 12.) Baan initially planned to complete its implementation of Phase II in November 1999. (See App. Q.) However, serious problems implementing Phase I rendered the November 1999 goal "unachievable." (Id.) Consequently, Baan developed a new plan to "go live" on Phase II by July 2000. (Id.)

In the meantime, with January 2000 rapidly approaching, Peavey had to temporarily postpone its Baan implementation project and, instead, upgrade its legacy systems to achieve Y2K compliance. (See App. Q; App. V at 9112 ¶ 12.) Although Baan consultants left the Peavey premises during that process (App. Q), Peavey fully intended to implement the entire bundle of software it purchased, including the manufacturing and SCS applications. (See 62 CR 9324-26.) Consistent with that intent,

Peavey continued to pay Baan "maintenance" and "support" fees related to the SCS software through at least January 2003. (See 62 CR 9316-18.)

In October 2002, Peavey was still working with Baan to determine whether to proceed with implementation and, if so, whether to use the current version of Baan IV or upgrade to a newer version of Baan Vc. (App. S.) Although Baan was still telling Peavey it could proceed with full implementation using Baan IVc2 (App. W at 9123 ¶ 28), internal communications reveal that version IVc2 was incompatible with SCS. (See Apps. O, O, R; App. V at 9112 ¶ 11.)

Baan attempted to conceal the integration problems by recommending that Peavey upgrade to a newer version of software. (See, e.g., 99 CR 14941 ("Baan Solution Proposal" recommending "ERP re-implementation as an opportunity to improve the flexibility and effectiveness of operations"); 99 CR 14993 (recommending "vanilla implementation of Baan Vc").) Although Baan eventually attempted to blame the integration problems on Peavey's customizations and interfaces (see App. T at 14792), the evidence favorable to Peavey shows that:

- Baan described its software as "highly customizable" (App. X at 8877);
- Baan was supposed to provide the knowledge and experience to implement the software Peavey purchased (App. K; App. X at 8872);
- Baan's "Blueprint" for implementing the package listed numerous customizations
 that had been "identified and prioritized as required for the successful
 implementation of the [package]" (60 CR 9094-98);
- Baan entered into a Source Code Agreement with Peavey to enable Peavey to customize the software (App. L); and
- Baan did not provide adequate warnings to Peavey that "customizations to the Baan ERP software would preclude Peavey from being able to reasonably upgrade

to future releases and versions of the software" (App. X at 8900; see also 61 CR 9231 \P 8; 62 CR 9280 \P 6; 62 CR 9311 \P 6-8).

In January 2003, Baan was still attempting to resolve Peavey's problems. (See App. T.) Baan acknowledged that Peavey's original justification for the software package was to achieve Y2K compliance and to realize \$13.2 million in savings from the integration of sales and distribution with manufacturing and engineering. (See id. at 14792.) However, "[t]he SCS module never worked so [Peavey was] not able to realize this savings." (Id.) One of Baan's proposed solutions was to complete implementation with "concessions" in the area of maintenance and support fees. (See id. at 14793.) Peavey was unhappy that it had paid \$3.9 million in license and maintenance fees for software that could not be installed. (See 69 CR 10380-85.)

Discussions about options for resolving the implementation problems continued until at least May 2003. (See 62 CR 9297 ¶ 8.) The following month, Peavey and Baan amended the Software Agreement to reduce the number of software users and associated support fees and to cancel support of unused software licenses. (App. J.) However, Baan never achieved full integration and implementation of the software package it sold Peavey and promised to successfully install. (See App. W at 9120.) Because Baan was unable to complete implementation, Peavey incurred "staggering" costs to maintain its computer system. (App. U at 9553-54.)

In February 2004, Peavey sued Baan alleging breach of contract, breach of express and implied warranties, fraud and fraudulent misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, and breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing. (See 1 CR 2.) After repeatedly refusing to allow Peavey to obtain critical discovery in support of its

claims, the trial court granted partial summary judgments for Baan and entered a final judgment dismissing all of Peavey's claims. (See Apps. B - H.) This appeal ensued.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Peavey paid Baan many millions of dollars to install an extensive package of computer programs that are critical to the successful operation and profitability of the company. The software package was so large, it had to be installed in phases. Although it was apparent that certain components of the package installed during the initial phase did not work, Baan repeatedly reassured Peavey that Baan would fix the problems and install the full package as promised. Based on Baan's assurances, Peavey did not sue Baan as soon as there were problems. Rather, Peavey patiently gave Baan opportunities to achieve full implementation in the hope that Peavey could realize its anticipated gains in efficiency. What Peavey did not know is that critical components of the Baan software package were either incompatible or did not exist and, therefore, the software package could *never* be fully implemented. Nor did Baan warn Peavey that software customizations - done at Baan's recommendation, under Baan's supervision, and at considerable expense to Peavey – would effectively preclude Peavey from making necessary software upgrades.

Peavey's patience eventually ran out. By early 2004, it had become clear that the software package Baan sold Peavey could not be installed to perform as promised. When Peavey filed this lawsuit, Baan resisted discovery and took the incredible position that many of Peavey's claims were barred by limitations because Peavey had not sued Baan within three years of experiencing the initial problems.

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