IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSEPPI No. 2007-CA-00341

PEAVEY ELECTRONICS CORPORATION

APPELLANT

v.

BAAN U.S.A., INC.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Peavey Electronics Corporation, Appellant;

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

and Baan did nothing to conceal those matters from Peavey. Each of these tolling doctrines requires that Peavey show that Baan deterred Peavey from acting by inequitable, fraudulent or wrongful conduct during the intervening years since the July 1999 Go-Live and continuing for years after all Baan personnel had left Peavey's premises. The two trial judges below correctly rejected Peavey's contentions of "continuing fraud."

In order to meet its burden of equitable estoppel, Peavey must establish by competent evidence on-going "inequitable or fraudulent conduct." Mitchell v. Progressive Ins. Co., 965

So. 2d 679, 685 (Miss. 2007) (emphasis added) (declining to apply equitable estoppel where plaintiff had notice of the claim and "[n]o evidence was submitted . . . that [defendant] engaged in inequitable or fraudulent conduct"). Thus, Peavey must prove that "it was induced by the conduct of [the defendant] to not file its complaint sooner" and that the defendant "knew or had reason to know that such consequences would follow." Harrison Enters., Inc. v. Trilogy

Comm'ns, Inc., 818 So. 2d 1088, 1095 (Miss. 2002) (emphasis added).

Similarly, in order to establish fraudulent concealment, Peavey must demonstrate "some act or conduct of an affirmative nature designed to prevent and which does prevent discovery of the claim." Stephens v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc'y, 850 So. 2d 78, 83 (Miss. 2003) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also Miss. Code Ann § 15-1-67. Peavey must show that "despite investigating with due diligence, [it] was unable to discover the claim." Nygaard v. Getty Oil Co., 918 So. 2d 1237, 1242 (Miss. 2005). Likewise, a "continuing tort" is one in which the defendant commits "repeated acts of wrongful conduct." Smith v. Franklin Custodian Funds, Inc., 726 So. 2d 144, 149 (Miss. 1998). A continuing tort is "one inflicted over a period of time; it involves wrongful conduct that is repeated until desisted, and each day creates a separate cause of action." Id. at 148 (quoting Stevens v. Lake, 615 So. 2d 1177, 1183 (Miss. 1999)).

Despite the oft- repeated rhetoric in Peavey's brief, Peavey offered **not a single witness** who testified that Baan did anything to discourage Peavey from taking action or that Peavey did, in fact, rely upon Baan's conduct in failing to assert its rights. Peavey instead contends that the two trial judges overlooked some vague assurances by Baan that Peavey could "fully implement" the software. The two trial judges did not overlook anything. Rather, after exhaustive briefing and a full hearing of all Peavey's contentions, both trial court judges correctly found that all of the communications Peavey wishes to now construe as "continuing torts" or inequitable conduct were nothing more than sales pitches by Baan in an effort to sell new software and services. (8/15/05 Opinion (App. C) at 4776-77 ("[T]he Court can discern no representation in these communications which could be construed to have induced Peavey, a sophisticated multinational corporation, to refrain from filing suit against Baan. These are large multinational corporations which are sophisticated business entities that communicated regarding the support and sale of software.")¹⁵

The trial judges' holdings that Peavey's claims are time-barred necessarily follow from the sworn testimony from Peavey's own senior officers and key project personnel that Baan did nothing to discourage Peavey from asserting its rights coupled with Peavey's complete failure to contradict the sworn testimony of its senior officers and IT personnel. (Lutz Aff. (App. BB) at 4560-61, ¶¶ 21-22; Finan Aff. (App. DD) at 4611, ¶¶ 34-35.) There is no basis on this undisputed record to revisit the decisions of the two trial judges that the statutes of limitations were not tolled.

¹⁵ Indeed, the Court further noted that despite having ample opportunity to re-plead, "the Plaintiff has yet to plead with particularity, naming the who, what, and when, of the alleged fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, and negligent misrepresentation committed by Baan." (8/15/05 Opinion (App. C) at 4780.)

III. PEAVEY'S CLAIMS AGAINST BAAN FOR DEFICIENT SERVICES ARE ALSO TIME-BARRED.

A. Peavey's Breach Of Contract Claims Based On The Professional Services Agreement Are Also Barred By The Three-Year Statute Of Limitations.

Peavey sued Baan on two distinct contract claims: (1) for allegedly defective **software** under the Software License; and (2) for breaches related to Baan's professional consulting **services** under the parties' Professional Services Agreement. (Second Amend. Compl. (App. Y) at 2617, 2620-21.) The latter claims for allegedly deficient services are covered by the three-year limitations period set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 and the trial court correctly found them time-barred. 1/24/07 Opinion (App. E) at 14471; U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Conservatorship of Melson, 809 So. 2d 647, 652 (Miss. 2002) (three-year limitation period in § 15-1-49 applies to claim on written contracts); In re Estate of Stewart, 732 So. 2d 255, 258 (Miss. 1999) (applying § 15-1-49 to the provision of professional services).

Peavey put forth no evidence of any breach of the Professional Services Agreement that occurred less than three years before Peavey filed suit (i.e., after February 27, 2001) for the obvious reason that Peavey elected to stop all work on the Peavey ESP Project in October 1999 and sent the Baan personnel off Peavey's premises at that time. (1/24/07 Opinion (App. E) at 14471; Harshbarger Aff. (App. EE) at 5320, ¶¶ 10-11; Finan Aff. (App. DD) at 4612, ¶¶ 37-38.) The trial court correctly ruled therefore that Peavey's claims relating to Baan's consulting and professional services under the Professional Services Agreement are time-barred.

B. The Statute Of Limitations For Claims Under The Professional Services Agreement Is Not Governed By The Uniform Commercial Code.

Lacking evidence of any services performed within three years of filing suit, but in an effort to avoid the three-year statute, Peavey asserts that Baan's consulting services are actually "goods" subject to the six-year statute of limitations for claims governed by the Mississippi Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC") for the sales of goods. The Professional Services

Agreement is, however, a contract for services, not for the sale of goods. See Miss. Code Ann. §§ 75-2-102 ("[T]his chapter applies to transactions in goods"), 75-2-105(1) ("Goods' means all things (including specially manufactured goods) which are movable at the time of identification to the contract for sale").

Baan's consultants are human beings, not chattel. The judge below correctly held that the Professional Services Agreement dealt with the provisions of services. (1/24/07 Opinion (App. E) at 14471.)

Additionally, Peavey's argument that services claims are governed by the UCC fails because under Mississippi law, even in so-called hybrid contracts (i.e., transactions involving both goods and services), the nature of agiven claim dictates the body of law applicable to that claim. In J.O. Hooker & Sons, Inc. v. Roberts Cabinet Co., 683 So. 2d 396, 399-400 (Miss. 1996) the Mississippi Supreme Court specifically addressed the issue of whether Article 2 of the UCC governs all aspects of a mixed contract, i.e. a single contract for both goods and services. The contract at issue in J.O. Hooker & Sons provided for the sale of cabinetry and the parties disputed which party had the duty to dispose of the old cabinets. 683 So. 2d at 400.

The Court found that the contract was a "mixed transaction of goods and services" but held that the UCC did not apply to the claim that was asserted. Id. The Court reasoned that "whether or not the contract should be interpreted under the UCC or . . . general contract law should depend upon the nature of the contract and also upon whether the *dispute* in question primarily concerns the goods furnished or the services rendered under the contract." Id. at 400 (emphasis in original). As the dispute concerned the cabinet removal services, not the quality of the cabinets, the Court explained, "[t]he fact that goods were furnished in the present contract has no bearing on the legal analysis involved, given that the dispute in this case clearly concerns the service aspect of this mixed transaction." Id. (emphasis added).

The Court recently applied J.O. Hooker & Sons' mixed-transactions test in Upchurch Plumbing, Inc. v. Greenwood Utilities Comm'n, 964 So. 2d 1100, 1110-11 (Miss. 2007). The contract at issue there was for the upgrade of a control system for a combustion turbine. Id. at 1102-03. The Court once again held that the UCC did **not** apply because "[u]sing this Court's mixed-transactions test, the dispute . . . clearly concerns testing of the system, which is a service." Id. at 1111. 16

The case against applying the UCC to Peavey's services claims is even more clear in the present case. Unlike the <u>Hooker</u> and <u>Upchurch</u> cases involving a single contract which contained "mixed" purposes, here the parties entered into two written contracts, one that defined and clearly delineated which aspects of this transaction related to the sale of goods (the Software License) and the other relating to the provision of professional consulting services (the Professional Services Agreement). Indeed, Peavey separately alleged in each of the three

The rules of contract construction of the two contracts at issue in the present case does **not** control what statute of limitations applies to each of Peavey's contract claims, some made for

¹⁶ Peavey's reliance upon the Indiana Court of Appeals decision in <u>Dexter Axle Co. v. Baan USA, Inc.</u>, 833 N.E.2d 43 (Ind. Ct. App. 2005) is a red herring. In <u>Dexter</u>, the Indiana courts determined that under Indiana law an exclusive venue selection provision in one but not all of the parties' contracts required the plaintiff to sue in the venue the parties agreed to. This decision under Indiana law, of course, has no bearing on the appropriate statute of limitations for a services claim under Mississippi law. This case is controlled by <u>J.O. Hooker & Sons</u> and <u>Upchurch Plumbing</u>.

¹⁷ Peavey argues that the two contracts should be treated as a "single" contract. Peavey's reliance on <u>Sullivan v. Mounger</u>, 882 So. 2d 129 (Miss. 2004) for this argument is also misplaced. (Peavey Br. at 35.) In <u>Sullivan</u>, the parties first executed a summary term sheet which contained the principal terms of their agreement regarding the settlement and termination of the plaintiff's ownership interest, and employment by, a business. <u>Id.</u> at 130-31. The parties then executed several more detailed documents collectively referred to throughout the documents as the "Transaction Documents." <u>Id.</u> The issue before the Court was whether the plaintiff's dispute was within the scope of an **arbitration provision** found in some, but not all, of the "Transaction Documents." <u>Id.</u> In finding that the arbitration provision applied, the Court concluded that the various contracts should "be **construed** together." <u>Id.</u> at 135 (emphasis added) (internal quotation marks omitted).

versions of its Complaint breaches of the Software License for alleged deficiencies in the Baan software, all the while also separately alleging breaches of the Professional Services Agreement regarding Baan's consultants and their services.¹⁸

Peavey then relies upon non-Mississippi cases in which courts have held that services that are provided "ancillary" to the purchase of a computer system are considered "goods."

Unlike all of the transactions in those cases, however, Peavey in this case **did not** buy a single "turn-key" computer system for a single "fixed price." Instead, under the Software License, Peavey only licensed the software itself from Baan for a flat fee (and entered into several other licenses with other software vendors too). Regarding outside consulting services, those services were **not** provided as part of the Software License. Indeed, Peavey was **not** obligated to obtain **any** consulting services from Baan, or to purchase such services from **any** outside source at all.

allegedly defective software under the Software License and others for allegedly deficient services under the Professional Services Agreement.

- 33. Peavey paid Baan more than \$4 million under the Software Agreement for the use, support, and installation of the Baan software. Baan, however, has failed to provide the software as contemplated under the Software Agreement and has failed to provide the support and installation services required under the contract. Peavey has been deprived of the benefits that it reasonably anticipated receiving from the Software Agreement. This is a complete failure of performance under the Software Agreement and a material breach of that Agreement.
- 34. Baan also contracted to provide professional consulting services for the implementation of the Baan software at Peavey. Baan's involvement with the implementation was so exceedingly deficient that it amounted to a complete failure of the performance contracted for in the Service Agreement and therefore is a material breach of that Agreement. Peavey consequently was deprived of the benefits that it reasonably anticipated receiving from the Service Agreement.

(emphasis added).

¹⁸ See, e.g., Second Amend. Compl. (App. Y) at 2620-21:

(See Reid Dep., 35 CR 5183; Word Dep., 33 CR 5014-15 ("[W]e viewed the implementation services separate from the software itself.").)¹⁹

Also, in contrast to the Software License fee, Peavey agreed to pay for Baan's consulting services on a time and materials basis, in accordance with an hourly fee schedule and not linked in any way to payment under the Software License. (Professional Services Agmt. (App. K) at 8963-64.)²⁰ In fact, Baan issued invoices on a periodic basis as the consulting services were performed and Peavey paid those invoices throughout the project without objection or reservation of rights. (Id. at 8960, § 4.1.)

Peavey's claims for alleged breach of the Professional Services Agreement by definition involve a dispute about Baan's professional consulting services. The very nature of the Professional Services Agreement and the separate Software License, as evidenced by each contract's plain terms, is that each agreement governed a different and distinct subject matter—

¹⁹ Computer consulting services are not deemed <u>per se</u> "ancillary" to a related software license for goods. Rather, the courts look to the nature of the services, the payment terms for those services (up front or as services are delivered), whether the services are part of a single "fixed price" contract for a finished computer system or are provided on a time and materials basis, and whether the nature of the alleged breach is related to the core software or the services related to that software. See e.g. Page v. Hotchkiss, No. CV020067814, 2003 WL 22962151, *6 (Conn. Super. Ct. Dec. 2, 2003) (holding that contract was "for the provision of a service as an independent contractor, not the sale of a good") (copy attached at Addendum 1); <u>Pearl Invs. LLC v. Standard I/O, Inc., LLC</u>, 257 F. Supp. 2d 326, 353 (D. Me. 2003) (distinguishing cases involving parties who "were paid in a manner primarily reflecting sale of goods", as compared with payment on "a time and materials basis").

²⁰ Peavey's argument that "the contractual dispute in question involves Baan's obligation to deliver and implement the software package Peavey purchased" is untenable. The agreements show on their face that Peavey did not license a turn-key software system. Rather, Peavey licensed certain modules of the Baan IV software for a fixed sum as specified in the Software License. Peavey decided also to contract separately on an hourly basis for professional consulting services from Baan and others to assist Peavey's internal IT staff in the implementation. (See, e.g., Professional Services Agmt. (App. K) at 8960, § 2.3 ("Tasks. Responsibility for the proper implementation of the Software is with Customer; Baan's role is to assist Customer with such implementation." (emphasis in original).)

one consulting services and the other software goods. Under both <u>J.O. Hooker</u> and <u>Upchurch</u>, the trial court correctly applied settled Mississippi law and held that Peavey's claims based on allegations of deficient professional services are all subject to the three statute of limitations governing service contracts and are time-barred. (1/24/07 Opinion (App. E) at 14471.)

IV. PEAVEY'S CLAIMS BASED ON THE SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT FAIL AS A MATTER OF LAW.

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